#### San Jose State University SJSU ScholarWorks

Mineta Transportation Institute Publications

3-2017

# Transportation Construction Work-Zone Safety Impact on Time-Related Incentive Contracting Projects

Jae-Ho Pyeon San Jose State University, jae.pyeon@sjsu.edu

Do Kim California State Polytechnic University - Pomona

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/mti\_publications Part of the <u>Other Public Affairs, Public Policy and Public Administration Commons</u>, and the <u>Transportation Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Jae-Ho Pyeon and Do Kim. "Transportation Construction Work-Zone Safety Impact on Time-Related Incentive Contracting Projects" *Mineta Transportation Institute Publications* (2017).

This Report is brought to you for free and open access by SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Mineta Transportation Institute Publications by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.

# Transportation Construction Work-Zone Safety Impact on Time-Related Incentive Contracting Projects





MTI Report WP 12-11







### MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE LEAD UNIVERSITY OF MNTRC

The Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI) was established by Congress in 1991 as part of the Intermodal Surface Transportation Equity Act (ISTEA) and was reauthorized under the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st century (TEA-21). MTI then successfully competed to be named a Tier I Center in 2002 and 2006 in the Safe, Accountable, Flexible, Efficient Transportation Equity Act: A Legacy for Users (SAFETEA-LU). Most recently, MTI successfully competed in the Surface Transportation Extension Act of 2011 to be named a Tier I Transit-Focused University Transportation Center. The Institute is funded by Congress through the United States Department of Transportation's Office of the Assistant Secretary for Research and Technology (OST-R), University Transportation Centers Program, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and by private grants and donations.

The Institute receives oversight from an internationally respected Board of Trustees whose members represent all major surface transportation modes. MTI's focus on policy and management resulted from a Board assessment of the industry's unmet needs and led directly to the choice of the San José State University College of Business as the Institute's home. The Board provides policy direction, assists with needs assessment, and connects the Institute and its programs with the international transportation community.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

#### Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: transportation security; planning and policy development; interrelationships among transportation, land use, and the environment; transportation finance; and collaborative labormanagement relations. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available both in hardcopy and on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

#### Education

The educational goal of the Institute is to provide graduate-level education to students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation programs. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and a graduate Certificate in Transportation Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. The master's degree is the highest conferred by the California State University system. With the active assistance of the California Department of Transportation, MTI delivers its classes over a state-of-the-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

#### Information and Technology Transfer

MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. In addition to publishing the studies, the Institute also sponsors symposia to disseminate research results to transportation professionals and encourages Research Associates to present their findings at conferences. The World in Motion, MTI's quarterly newsletter, covers innovation in the Institute's research and education programs. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

#### DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program and the California Department of Transportation, in the interest of information exchange. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. government, State of California, or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation.

REPORT WP 12-11

# TRANSPORTATION CONSTRUCTION WORK-ZONE SAFETY IMPACT ON TIME-RELATED INCENTIVE CONTRACTING PROJECTS

Jae-Ho Pyeon, Ph.D. Do Kim, Ph.D.

March 2017

A publication of **Mineta Transportation Institute** Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

### **TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

1.	Report No. CA-MTI-16-1224	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4.	Title and Subtitle Transportation Construction Work-Zone	Safety Impact on Time-Related Incentive	5. Report Date March 2017
	Contracting Projects		6. Performing Organization Code
7.	Authors Jae-Ho Pyeon, Ph.D. and Do Kim, Ph.D.	).	8. Performing Organization Report MTI Report WP 12-11
9.	Performing Organization Name and A Mineta Transportation Institute	Address	10. Work Unit No.
	College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219		11. Contract or Grant No. DTRT12-G-UTC21
12	. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addre	ss	13. Type of Report and Period Covered
	California Department of Transportation	U.S. Department of Transportation	Final Report
	Division of Research, Innovation and Systems Information	Office of the Assistant Secretary for	14. Sponsoring Agency Code
	MS-42, PO Box 942873	University Transportation Centers Program	
	Sacramento, CA 94273-0001	1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE Washington, DC 20590	
15	Supplemental Notes		
16	Abstract		
	Work-zone safety on highway projects of of project success. Many contractors an contracting contributes to reducing the s never been measured or supported by between time-related incentive provisions on project data from the California Departr Statewide Integrated Traffic Records Sy projects and crashes at the project loo statistical analyses to test the relations ones at non-incentive project sites before projects and non-incentive projects wer the impact of time-related incentive con	continues to be a national concern, and project d State Transportation Agencies believe that e safety risk of road users traveling through work any statistical evidence. Therefore, this resea istruction projects and frequency of vehicle cra project safety performance. The research te nent of Transportation. Additionally, vehicle cr stem. Using Geographic Information System ( cations were then pinpointed on GIS centerl hip between the frequency and characteristic e, during, and after construction. Finally, the an re summarized to provide project planners an tracting on project safety performance.	safety performance is one of the indicators expedited construction time under incentive zones. However, the truth of this belief has arch investigates the statistical relationship ashes in California to understand the impact eam collected incentive and non-incentive rash data was collected from the California GIS) software, the locations of construction line layers. The research team performed as of crashes at incentive project sites and alysis results for both time-related incentive d managers with a better understanding of
17	Key Words	18. Distribution Statement	
	Incentive/Disincentive (I/D); time- related contracting; work-zone safety; GIS; safety performance	No restrictions. This document is availa The National Technical Information Serv	ble to the public through vice, Springfield, VA 22161

Copyright © 2017 by **Mineta Transportation Institute** All rights reserved

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 2017935947

To order this publication, please contact:

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu

transweb.sjsu.edu

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to express their sincere gratitude to the Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI) for the financial and administrative support that made this research possible. The authors would also like to thank the California Depart-ment of Transportation for providing valuable project data for this research.

The authors thank MTI staff, including Executive Director Karen Philbrick, Ph.D.; Publication Support Coordinator Joseph Mercado; Executive Administrative Assistant Jill Carter; and Editor Jan Steckel.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	1
Research Background and Objective	1
Research Methodology	1
Research Outcomes	1
I. Introduction	3
Research Background	3
Research Objective	3
Research Scope and Methodology	4
II. Literature Review	5
Time-Related Incentive Contracting	5
Work-Zone Safety Studies	5
Summary	6
III. Data Collection	7
IV. Data Analysis	8
Crash Data Aggregation for Construction Zones	8
Construction Work-Zone Location Identification	8
Identificatoin of Crashes	10
Aggregation of Crash Counts by Three Time Frames	11
Crash Comparison and Statistical Analysis	12
V. Conclusions and Recommendations	16
Appendix A – Incentive Projects	17
Appendix B – Non-Incentive Projects	18
Abbreviations and Acronyms	19
Endnotes	20
Bibliography	21
About the Authors	23
Peer Review	24

# LIST OF FIGURES

	O as is a f Decession Methodales	
1.	Overview of Research Methodology	4
2.	An Example of Crash and Construction-Project Mapping	7
3.	Locating a Construction Zone on NHPN	9
4.	Construction Zone Confirmation with World Street Map	9
5.	Spatial Data of Construction Zone	10
6.	Crashes Over a Construction Zone	10
7.	Buffer Analysis on Crashes	11
8.	Crashes on the Highway Undergoing Construction	11
9.	Crashes by Three Time Frames	12
10.	Crash Comparison for Time-Related Incentive Projects	13
11.	Crash Comparison for Non-Incentive Projects	13

# LIST OF TABLES

1.	Summary Statistics of Variables for Incentive Projects	14
2.	ANOVA Table for Crash Effect for Incentive Projects	14
3.	Summary Statistics of Variables for Non-Incentive Projects	14
4.	ANOVA Table for Crash Effect for Non-Incentive Projects	15

### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

### RESEARCH BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVE

Work-zone safety on highway projects continues to be a national concern, and project safety performance is one of the indicators of project success. Contractors and State Transportation Agencies believe that expedited construction time under incentive contracting contributes to reducing the safety risk of road users traveling through work zones. Nevertheless, the truth of this belief has never been measured or supported by any statistical evidence. Obviously, understanding the impact of time-related incentive provisions on project-safety factors is important in order to provide better guidelines for the effective use of incentives, as well as for construction work-zone safety. Improving the current practice for time-related incentive provisions through the implementation of the research findings will provide the traveling public with increased value and safety.

The goal of this research, therefore, is to investigate the statistical relationship between time-related incentive road construction projects and frequency of vehicle crashes in the State of California and provide project planners and managers with a better understanding of the impact of time-related incentive contracting on project safety performance.

#### **RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

This research started with a narrow literature review with regard to time-related incentive contracting performances and work-zone safety studies. The research team also collected incentive and non-incentive project data from the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). In addition, vehicle crash data was collected from the California Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System (SWITRS). Using Geographic Information System (GIS) software, the locations of construction projects and crashes at the project locations were then pinpointed on GIS centerline layers. Finally, statistical analyses were performed to investigate the relationship between the frequency and characteristics of crashes at incentive project sites and ones at non-incentive project sites in the State of California. The results of these analyses about how the current project incentive systems impact on construction work-zone safety were summarized.

### **RESEARCH OUTCOMES**

The research team successfully compiled data representing the locations of construction work zone and crashes using GIS technology and performed statistical analyses to compare the frequency of crashes at time-related incentive construction project site before, during, and after construction.

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test for both time-related incentive projects and nonincentive projects was performed to test if the occurrence of crashes is significantly different among three scenarios: 1) Before Construction, 2) During Construction, and 3) After Construction. The statistical analysis results for both projects show that the differences of crash occurrence among all three variables are not significant. This indicates that there is no adverse safety impact on time-related incentive contracting projects during the study period. No statistical evidence was found that time-related incentive contracting projects have a negative impact on work-zone safety performance.

Although there was no work-zone safety difference among three scenarios, it is noted that the number of project data used for this study was small and limited. Only 19 time-related incentive projects and 13 non-incentive projects were collected and summarized in Appendix A and B, respectively. Approximately 10% of all incentive project data implemented in California has been collected during the research period and tested for this study. Therefore, in order to draw a more meaningful conclusion, it is necessary for the research team to collect more project data for each category and perform a statistical analysis with a large sample size.

### I. INTRODUCTION

#### **RESEARCH BACKGROUND**

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) strives to improve work-zone safety. At the same time, the FHWA endeavors to enhance the transportation system by striving for the early delivery of highway construction projects by encouraging State Transportation Agencies (STAs) to implement time-related incentive contracting for early completion of time-sensitive highway construction projects, including urban rehabilitation and reconstruction. In many states, including California, the STAs have successfully implemented time-related incentive contracting methods. While there have been numerous studies published regarding time performance of the incentive contracting projects, there has been no quantitative research effort made to measure the safety performance of expedited incentive construction projects. It is also unknown whether or not a contractor's accelerated work schedule under time-related incentive contracting has a positive or negative impact on work-zone safety performance.

Work-zone safety on a highway project continues to be a national concern, and project safety performance is one of the indicators of project success. Contractors and STAs believe that the expedited construction time under incentive contracting contributes to reducing the safety risk of road users traveling through work zones. Nevertheless, this proposition has never been measured or supported by any statistical evidence. Therefore, understanding the impact of time-related incentive provisions on project safety factors is important to provide better guidelines for the effective use of incentives, as well as construction work-zone safety. Improving the current practice for time-related incentive provisions through the implementation of the research findings will provide the traveling public with increased value and safety.

This research will focus on determining the significance of the frequency of vehicle crashes for time-related incentive road construction projects in the State of California. Using state-of-the-art GIS technology, this research will compile data representing the locations of construction work zones and crashes. Then, using statistical analyses, the research team will compare the frequency of crashes at incentive project sites with those at non-incentive project sites.

In conclusion, the outcome of this research will provide a better understanding of the frequency of crashes at construction work zones during the current time-related incentive contracting practices. The goal of this study is to contribute to developing a framework of a safety-oriented incentive policy for the nation's highway system in the future.

#### **RESEARCH OBJECTIVE**

The goal of this research is to investigate the statistical relationship between time-related incentive road construction projects and the frequency of vehicle crashes in the State of California and provide project planners and managers with a better understanding of the impact of time-related incentive contracting on project safety performance.

### **RESEARCH SCOPE AND METHODOLOGY**

In order to achieve the research objective, the scope of this research includes a narrow literature review with regard to time-related incentive contracting performances and workzone safety studies. The research team then collected incentive and non-incentive project data from Caltrans: 1) project location information (District, County, Roadway ID/Name, Postmile ahead, Postmile back, Speed limit, Number of Ianes), 2) project duration (Work begin date and Final acceptance date), 3) project contract amount, and 4) project work type. In addition, vehicle crash data was collected from SWITRS. The collected crash data was included in the project database. These crash data containing specific location information were needed if they were to be linked to construction projects. Using GIS software, the locations of construction projects and crashes at the project locations was pinpointed on GIS centerline layers. Statistical analyses were performed in order to find any relationship between the frequency of vehicle crashes and time-related incentive projects. The overview of this research methodology is illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Overview of Research Methodology

### II. LITERATURE REVIEW

The research team conducted a literature review of time-related incentive contracting performances and work-zone safety studies. A narrow focused study regarding incentive contracting performance evaluations and a regional perspective of construction zone safety was reviewed and briefly summarized.

### TIME-RELATED INCENTIVE CONTRACTING

The FHWA initiated an alternative contracting policy for Incentive/Disincentive (I/D) for Early Completion under FHWA's Special Experimental Project No 14 - Innovative Contracting in 1989. Since then, the FHWA has encouraged STAs to implement time-related incentive contracting for early completion of time-sensitive highway construction projects. In practice, incentives may be paid when employing the following contracting practices: I/D, Cost plus time (A+B) with I/D, No Excuse Bonus (complete-by-date incentive), Lane Rental, Liquidated Savings, and any combination of those practices.<sup>1</sup> The I/D concept is designed to shorten construction duration by providing the contractor with a monetary reward for early completion and charging a monetary penalty for delay. The A+B bidding concept is also designed to reduce the overall contract duration by encouraging the contractor to bid the minimum number of project days with project costs in order to reduce the contractor's time cost for bidding. The No Excuse Bonus contract provision is generally used for providing a significant monetary incentive for the contractor's early or on-time completion of a project regardless of any unforeseen project conditions. The Liquidated Savings are the opposite concept of the existing Liquidated Damages. The Liquidated Savings usually offers the owner's direct cost savings caused by early project completion to the contractor. In many states, including California, the STAs have successfully implemented these incentive contracting methods.<sup>2</sup> While numerous studies have been published regarding time performance of incentive contracting projects,<sup>3</sup> no quantitative research effort has been made to measure the safety performance of expedited incentive construction projects. Work-zone safety performance on a project has been an important issue for many years, but it is not known if a contractor's accelerated work schedule under incentive contracting has a positive or negative impact on work-zone safety performance.<sup>4</sup>

Contractors and STAs believe that expedited construction time under incentive contracting contributes to reducing the safety risk of road users traveling through work zones, but this has never been measured or statistically analyzed.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, understanding the impacts of time-related incentive contracting on project-safety factors is important to provide better guidelines for the effective use of incentives, as well as construction work-zone safety. Through the implementation of the research findings, improving current practice for time-related incentive provisions will provide the traveling public increased safety and value.

#### WORK-ZONE SAFETY STUDIES

There have been numerous work-zone safety studies, and most of them are micro-level case studies that analyze limited numbers of work zones and only a few crash sites in particular work zones.<sup>6</sup> At the regional level, there are few studies linking and analyzing work zones and crash characteristics. These regional level work-zone safety analyses

mainly focus on comparing characteristics of crashes at construction work zones to ones at non-work zones.<sup>7</sup> Most of these studies utilize GIS technology to identify the locations of crashes and construction work zones. The GIS technology facilitates data aggregation, which makes it possible to combine detail characteristics of crashes occurring at each construction work zone. Once the data is compiled, a series of statistical analyses are applied to identify the relationship between work zones and crash frequency.<sup>8</sup>

In order to investigate crash trends and patterns properly, it was recommended to collect crash data for at least three years.<sup>9</sup> Crash data can be acquired from the California Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System, a statewide database that serves as a means to collect and process data gathered from a collision scene.<sup>10</sup>

For the analysis of crash data using GIS, mapping crashes in GIS is an important process that converts text or tabular data to spatial data that locates crashes on a roadway map.<sup>11</sup> It is necessary to identify locations of crashes for analyzing patterns of those crashes.

Along with the Geocoding engine, it was recommended that a standard GIS location mapping algorithm, a customized GIS application, was needed to be utilized to map the collected crash records. since Geocoding is not fully capable of handling location information of crash data expressed as a distance and a direction from particular post-markers of roads.<sup>12</sup>

#### SUMMARY

In conclusion, it is unknown whether the expedited construction time under incentive contracting contributes to reducing the safety risk of the road users traveling through work zones. For this reason, a study the safety impacts of time-related incentive projects is needed. Based on the previous studies, it was found that a regional scale study utilizing GIS technology could provide a systematic approach to pinpoint locations of crashes. In addition, using the existing public GIS database, detailed characteristics of crashes in construction work zones can be easily retrieved. For a further analysis, it is necessary to compare the frequency and characteristics of crashes at incentive project sites with ones at non-inventive project sites. Eventually, the results of this analysis might be able to provide detailed insights into how current project incentive systems affect construction work-zone safety.

### **III. DATA COLLECTION**

In this data collection stage, the research team collected incentive and non-incentive construction-project data from Caltrans. The project data collect from Caltrans includes project-location information such as District, County, Roadway ID/name, Postmile Ahead, and Postmile Back. Other key project information such as project duration, type of work and contract amount was also collected. In addition, crash data was acquired from the California Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System, a statewide database that serves as a means to collect and process data gathered from collision scenes.

Using GIS technology, the locations of construction projects and crashes was pinpointed. The project data of Caltrans were in the format of tabular data. The first mapping task was to identify the locations of the construction projects. Using location information in the database, the research team identified the locations of construction projects on the GIS highway centerline layers.

The location information of the project data was based on a combination of street names. For example, there was a construction project on University Avenue between 1st Street and 2nd Street. Since current GIS software is not capable of automatically pinpointing map locations based on available location information, a manual mapping process was necessary for searching the names in the centerline database. The crash mapping task was then performed in order to identify locations of crashes for analyzing patterns of those crashes.

After these mapping tasks, crash locations were identified accurately by overlaying the mapped crashes and construction project sites. An example outcome of this mapping process is illustrated in Figure 2.



Figure 2. An Example of Crash and Construction-Project Mapping

### IV. DATA ANALYSIS

The collected project data were analyzed based on project information such as work type, size, and location. The research team categorized two groups, time-related incentive projects and non-incentive projects, in order to test any differences with regard to the occurrence of crashes. First, the research team performed data-mapping processes for analysis. Second, the occurrence of crashes for both groups, time-related incentive projects and non-incentive projects were investigated using three different time frames: 1) Before Construction, 2) During Construction, and 3) After Construction. Statistical analyses were then performed to test any differences with regard to the occurrence of crashes.

### **CRASH DATA AGGREGATION FOR CONSTRUCTION ZONES**

Crash data can be collected before, during, and after highway construction projects in a project location, and variations of crash frequency should be studied to measure the safety impact. Therefore, it is important to accurately count the number of crashes that occurred for three time frames; before, during, and after highway construction projects. In order to achieve this task, the research team conducted the following subtasks:

- Identification of locations of highway construction zones,
- Identification of crashes that occurred within highway construction zones, and
- Aggregation of crash counts by three time frames.

It is also important to utilize spatial and temporal information from a variety of data sources, including the national highway dataset, California Highway Patrol's crash data, and highway construction data.

### CONSTRUCTION WORK-ZONE LOCATION IDENTIFICATION

The first step of this project was to convert textual location of highway construction zone to spatial data using GIS. In other words, this task was to identify the spatial locations of highway construction zones collected as a tabular format on a map. This task was also necessary to spatially associate the construction zones with the locations of crashes later.

In order to accomplish this task, location information of highway construction zones was extracted. Location information typically consists of highway number, mile posts, and textual description of construction projects.

Utilizing a highway number and mile posts, it was feasible to locate construction zones on the National Highway Planning Network (NHPN) from the National Transportation Atlas Databases (NTAD). Since the NHPN data contains highway number and beginning and ending mile posts for each highway segment, the researchers were able to match the location information of construction zones with NHPN as shown in Figure 3. This task required a manual operation, since there is no method that automatically matches two different sets of location information.



Figure 3. Locating a Construction Zone on NHPN

The identified location of each construction zone was confirmed with the location description from the construction zone data. The description includes street names adjacent to construction zones. The location of the construction zone was double-checked by comparing the street names from the description to the street names on the Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI) World Street Map as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Construction Zone Confirmation with World Street Map

After confirming the location of the construction zone with ESRI's World Street Map, the construction zone was finally depicted on the map. This task made it possible for the research team to construct a spatial data set for the construction zone as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Spatial Data of Construction Zone

### **IDENTIFICATOIN OF CRASHES**

The research team identified crashes that occurred within highway construction zones using crash data from 2002 to 2011 collected from the Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System, which is a means to collect and process data gathered from a collision scene by the California Highway Patrol (CHP). The crash data was overlaid on the construction zone data created from the previous step as shown in Figure 6.

In this case, a ½ mile buffer for the construction zone was applied in order to select crashes occurred within the construction zone and under the influence of the construction zone in Figure 7. However, selected crashes include not only crashes that occurred on the highway where the construction was implemented, but also ones along surrounding streets. Only the crashes that occurred on the highway of construction were sorted out by addition spatial analysis and data query analysis in Figure 8.



Figure 6. Crashes Over a Construction Zone







Figure 8. Crashes on the Highway Undergoing Construction

#### AGGREGATION OF CRASH COUNTS BY THREE TIME FRAMES

The construction zone data provides the time frame of construction including work start date and construction acceptance date. The crash data also contains the dates of incidents. Therefore, it was possible to group the crashes within a construction zone by three time frames, before, during, and after construction throughout data query analysis as shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Crashes by Three Time Frames

#### **CRASH COMPARISON AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS**

Based on the output from mapping tasks, the research team was able to aggregate the numbers and characteristics of crashes by construction project area. Construction projects were classified into two main categories, time-related incentive projects and non-incentive projects. Occurrence of crashes before, during, and after time-related incentive project construction was graphically compared in Figure 10. Occurrence of crashes before, during, and after non-incentive project construction was graphically compared in Figure 11. In both figures, the numbers of crashes in some projects were significantly different before, during, and after construction. It was necessary to perform a further analysis to test if the differences were statistically significant. A series of statistical analyses were then performed to find any differences between the two groups, time-related incentive projects and non-incentive projects, with regard to the occurrence of crashes.



Figure 10. Crash Comparison for Time-Related Incentive Projects



Figure 11. Crash Comparison for Non-Incentive Projects

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test for time-related incentive projects was performed to test if the occurrence of crashes is significantly different among three scenarios: 1) Before Construction, 2) During Construction, and 3) After Construction. Summary Statistics of three variables for time-related incentive projects were shown in Table 1. The *F*-test results for time-related incentive projects are shown in Table 2.

Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
Before	19	81.3	4.3	32.5
Construction	19	106.3	5.6	57.9
After	19	80.7	4.2	46.1

Table 1. Summary Statistics of variables for incentive Project	Fable 1. Summa	y Statistics of Variables for Incentive Project	ects
--	----------------	---	------

The statistical analysis results for time-related incentive projects show that the difference of crash occurrence among all three variables — before construction, during construction, and after construction are not significant. The statistical significance of the variance is given by the probability value (*p*-value) defined in this study to be significant when it is smaller than 0.05. Since the *p*-value (0.783) is much greater than 0.05, we cannot conclude from this test that the effect of the three variables is significant. This indicates that there is no adverse safety impact on time-related incentive contracting projects during the study period.

Table 2.	ANOVA Tab	e for Crash	Effect for	Incentive	Projects
----------	-----------	-------------	------------	-----------	----------

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between Groups	22.5	2	11.258	0.247	0.782
Within Groups	2,457.6	54	45.510		
Total	2,480.1	56			

An ANOVA test for non-incentive projects was performed to test if the occurrence of crashes is significantly different among three scenarios: 1) Before Construction, 2) During Construction, and 3) After Construction. Summary Statistics of three variables for non-incentive projects are shown in Table 3. The *F*-test results for time-related incentive projects are shown in Table 4.

Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance
Before	13	27.4	2.1	10.4
Construction	13	29.8	2.3	12.2
After	13	30.7	2.4	22.8

#### Table 3. Summary Statistics of Variables for Non-Incentive Projects

The statistical analysis results for non-incentive projects show that the difference of crash occurrence among all three variables Before Construction, During Construction, and After Construction are not significant. The statistical significance of the variance is given by the probability value (*p*-value) defined in this study to be significant when it is smaller than 0.05. Since the *p*-value (0.985) is much greater than 0.05, we cannot conclude from this test that the effect of the three variables is significant. This indicates that there is no adverse safety impact on non-incentive contracting projects during the study period.

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value
Between Groups	0.448	2	0.224	0.015	0.985
Within Groups	545.8	36	15.161		
Total	546.3	38			

 Table 4.
 ANOVA Table for Crash Effect for Non-Incentive Projects

### V. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The research team successfully compiled data representing the locations of construction work zones and crashes using GIS technology and performed statistical analyses to compare the frequency of crashes at time-related incentive construction project sites before, during, and after construction. The methodology used for this study to find a relationship between time-related incentive road construction projects and the frequency of vehicle crashes seems to be effective.

An ANOVA test for both time-related incentive projects and non-incentive projects was performed to test if the occurrence of crashes is significantly different among three scenarios: 1) Before Construction, 2) During Construction, and 3) After Construction. The statistical analysis results for both projects show that the difference of crash occurrence among all three variables are not significant. This indicates that there is no adverse safety impact on time-related incentive contracting projects during the study period. No statistical evidence was found that time-related incentive contracting projects have a negative impact on work-zone safety performance.

Although there was no work-zone safety difference among three scenarios, it is noted that the number of project data used for this study was small and limited. Only 19 time-related incentive projects and 13 non-incentive projects were collected and tested for this study. Therefore, in order to draw more meaningful conclusions, it is necessary for the research team to collect more project data for each project type category and perform a statistical analysis with a large sample size such as 30 or more projects for each project type category.

### **APPENDIX A – INCENTIVE PROJECTS**

Project ID	Project Location (District)	Project Type (Construction)	Original Contract Amount (USD)	Project Construction Duration (Days)	Final Project Acceptance Date
Incentive #01	08	CHIP SEAL	\$181,900	20	7/15/2003
Incentive #02	07	CONSTRUCT APPROACH SLAB	\$231,500	227	11/3/2004
Incentive #03	10	CONSTRUCT FREEWAY AND BRIDGES	\$74,350,000	93	4/4/2008
Incentive #04	01	CURVE IMPROVEMENT	\$2,196,000	37	9/17/2009
Incentive #05	04	EMERGENCY BRIDGE REPAIR	\$19,750,000	33	6/19/2007
Incentive #06	04	INSTALL ELECTRICAL SUBMARINE CABLE	\$11,538,340	562	11/19/2007
Incentive #07	07	REALIGN AND WIDEN EXISTING HIGHWAY	\$27,058,000	601	10/9/2008
Incentive #08	02	RECONSTRUCT INTERCHANGE	\$4,528,000	409	5/24/2010
Incentive #09	08	RECONSTRUCT TIMBER RETAINING WALL	\$1,826,000	127	4/8/2003
Incentive #10	07	REHABILITATE PAVEMENT	\$79,350,000	509	3/27/2009
Incentive #11	07	REPAIR FIRE DAMAGE TO TRUCK TUNNEL	\$20,000,000	1,130	11/16/2007
Incentive #12	03	REPLACE BRIDGE DECK	\$2,797,000	355	11/6/2008
Incentive #13	07	ROADWAY AND BRIDGE REHABILITATION	\$8,404,200	238	12/16/2004
Incentive #14	04	SEISMIC RETROFIT	\$214,640,000	995	4/8/2009
Incentive #15	06	WIDEN AND REHABILITATE FREEWAY	\$61,890,000	86	2/27/2008
Incentive #16	07	WIDEN EXISTING FREEWAY	\$36,310,000	73	7/30/2008
Incentive #17	07	WIDEN OFF RAMP	\$10,535,000	341	6/1/2010
Incentive #18	02	WIDEN ROADWAY AND BRIDGES	\$115,000,000	605	7/1/2005
Incentive #19	05	WIDEN TO 6 LANES	\$47,720,000	830	10/30/2008

### **APPENDIX B – NON-INCENTIVE PROJECTS**

Project ID	Project Location (District)	Project Type (Construction)	Original Contract Amount (USD)	Project Construction Duration (Days)	Final Project Acceptance Date
Non-Incentive #01	10	CHIP SEAL	\$201,800	7	8/10/2004
Non-Incentive #02	02	CONSTRUCT ACCESS ROAD	\$171,700	25	10/18/2005
Non-Incentive #03	01	CONSTRUCT ASPHALT CONCRETE	\$1,420,500	91	12/5/2005
Non-Incentive #04	01	CURVE REALIGNMENT	\$2,072,000	125	12/16/2005
Non-Incentive #05	07	RECONSTRUCT INTERCHANGE	\$17,650,000	900	6/27/2006
Non-Incentive #06	06	REPLACE BRIDGE DECK	\$2,261,000	202	2/16/2005
Non-Incentive #07	03	ROADWAY AND BRIDGE REHABILITATION	\$8,792,000	491	6/22/2005
Non-Incentive #08	04	STORM DAMAGE REPAIR	\$1,709,000	90	6/30/2004
Non-Incentive #09	06	WIDEN AND RESURFACE ROADWAY	\$9,062,000	115	1/17/2007
Non-Incentive #10	03	WIDEN EXISTING FREEWAY	\$36,160,000	522	5/27/2005
Non-Incentive #11	08	WIDEN OFF RAMP	\$691,700	281	12/19/2005
Non-Incentive #12	08	WIDEN ROADWAY	\$41,480,000	344	1/3/2008
Non-Incentive #13	07	WIDEN ROADWAY AND BRIDGES	\$83,710,000	1,242	11/1/2007

# **ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS**

A+B	Cost plus Time
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
Cal Poly Pomona	California State Polytechnic University, Pomona
Caltrans	California Department of Transportation
CHP	California Highway Patrol
ESRI	Environmental Systems Research Institute
FHWA	Federal Highway Administration
GIS	Geographic Information System
I/D	Incentive/Disincentive
MTI	Mineta Transportation Institute
NCHRP	National Cooperative Highway Research Program
NHPN	National Highway Planning Network
NTAD	National Transportation Atlas Databases
SJSU	San José State University
STAs	State Transportation Agencies
SWITRS	Statewide Integrated Traffic Records System

### ENDNOTES

- National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP), "Selection and Evaluation of Alternative Contracting Methods to Accelerate Project Completion," NCHRP Synthesis 379 (Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2008); Jae-Ho Pyeon, "Traffic Impact on Incentive Contracting Project Time Performance during Highway Construction," *Journal of Civil Engineering and Architecture* 4, no. 7(July, 2010), pp. 9-14.
- Jae-Ho Pyeon, "Incentive/Disincentive Contracting Case Study in California: Reconstruction at the Route 580/880 Separation," *Proceedings of the US-Korea Conference on Science, Technology, and Entrepreneurship* (CD-ROM), The Symposium of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Korean-American Scientists and Engineers Association, San Diego, CA, August 14-17, 2008.
- 3. Herbsman, Z. (1995). "A+B Bidding Method Hidden Success Story for Highway Construction." Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, 121(4), 430-437.
- 4. Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), "Work Zone Operations Best Practices Guidebook," Publication No. FWHA-HOP-07-131, Washington, D.C., 2007.
- 5. NCHRP, 2010.
- Raktim Pal and Kumares Sinha, "Analysis of Crash Rates at Interstate Work Zones in Indiana," *TRB Journal* 1529, no. 6(1996); Shyam Venugopal and Andrzej Tarko, "Safety Models for Rural Freeway Work Zones," *TRB Journal* 1715, no. 1(2000).
- 7. Yong Bai and Yingfeng Li, "Determining Major Causes of Highway Work Zone Accidents in Kansas," Kansas Department of Transportation Research Report, K-Tran:KU-05-1 (Lawrence, Kansas: The University of Kansas, 2006).
- 8. Ibid.
- Ilir Bejleri, Ruth L. Steiner, and Do-Hyoung Kim, "GIS Methods and Tools for Bicycle and Pedestrian Crash Mapping and Analysis," *The Proceedings of 86th Annual Meeting of Transportation Research Board of the National Academies*, January 21-25, Washington, D.C., 2007.
- 10. Dohyung Kim and Andrew Catalano, "The Improvement of Bicyclists and Pedestrians Safety in Riverside County: Focusing on Environmental Contributing Factors to Bicyclist and Pedestrian Crashes," Leonard Transportation Center, 2010.
- 11. Bejleri et al., 2007.
- 12. Dohyung Kim, "Improvement of Pedestrian and Bicyclist Safety: Addressing Environmental Contributing Factors," *Korean Local Administration Review* 6, no. 1 (2009).

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Bai, Yong and Yingfeng Li. "Determining Major Causes of Highway Work Zone Accidents in Kansas." Kansas Department of Transportation Research Report. K-Tran:KU-05-1. Lawrence, Kansas: The University of Kansas, 2006.
- Bejleri, Ilir, Ruth L. Steiner, and Do-Hyoung Kim. "GIS Methods and Tools for Bicycle and Pedestrian Crash Mapping and Analysis." *The Proceedings of 86th Annual Meeting of Transportation Research Board of the National Academies*. January 21-25, Washington, D.C., 2007.
- Ellis, Ralph, Jae-Ho Pyeon, Zohar Herbsman, Edward Minchin, and Keith Molenaar. "Evaluation of Alternative Contracting Techniques on FDOT Construction Projects." Final Report. Tallahassee, FL:The Florida Department of Transportation, July 2007.
- Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). "Work Zone Operations Best Practices Guidebook." Publication No. FWHA-HOP-07-131, Washington, D.C., 2007.
- Herbsman, Z. (1995). "A+B Bidding Method Hidden Success Story for Highway Construction." Journal of Construction Engineering and Management, 121(4), 430-437.
- Kim, Dohyung. "Improvement of Pedestrian and Bicyclist Safety: Addressing Environmental Contributing Factors." *Korean Local Administration Review* 6, no. 1 (2009).
- Kim, Dohyung and Andrew Catalano. "The Improvement of Bicyclists and Pedestrians Safety in Riverside County: Focusing on Environmental Contributing Factors to Bicyclist and Pedestrian Crashes." Leonard Transportation Center, 2010.
- National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP). "Selection and Evaluation of Alternative Contracting Methods to Accelerate Project Completion." NCHRP Synthesis 379. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2008.
- National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP). "Time-Related Incentive and Disincentive Provisions in Highway Construction Contracts." NCHRP Report 652. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2010.
- Pal, Raktim and Kumares Sinha. "Analysis of Crash Rates at Interstate Work Zones in Indiana." *TRB Journal* 1529, no. 6(1996).
- Pyeon, Jae-Ho. "Incentive/Disincentive Contracting Case Study in California: Reconstruction at the Route 580/880 Separation." *Proceedings of the US-Korea Conference on Science, Technology, and Entrepreneurship* (CD-ROM), The Symposium of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Korean-American Scientists and Engineers Association, San Diego, CA, August 14-17, 2008.

- Pyeon, Jae-Ho. "Traffic Impact on Incentive Contracting Project Time Performance during Highway Construction." *Journal of Civil Engineering and Architecture* 4, no. 7(July, 2010), pp. 9-14.
- Pyeon, Jae-Ho and Ralph Ellis. "Project Time Performance Comparison During FDOT Highway Construction: Traditional Design-Bid-Build Versus Incentive Contracting." *Proceedings of the Transportation Research Board 88th Annual Meeting* (CD-ROM), Washington, D.C., January 11-15, 2009.
- Pyeon, Jae-Ho and Taeho Park. "Improving Transportation Construction Project Performance: Development of a Model to Support Decision-Making Process for Incentive/Disincentive Construction Projects." MTI Report 09-07. San Jose, CA: Mineta Transportation Institute, March 2010.
- Venugopal, Shyam and Andrzej Tarko. "Safety Models for Rural Freeway Work Zones." *TRB Journal* 1715, no. 1(2000).

### ABOUT THE AUTHORS

### JAE-HO PYEON, PH.D.

Jae-Ho Pyeon, Ph.D. is an Associate Professor in the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering at San José State University (SJSU). Dr. Pyeon received both his master's and doctor's degrees in Civil and Coastal Engineering from the University of Florida. Currently, Dr. Pyeon is a University Representative of the Transportation Research Board and a member of the Construction Research Council, Construction Institute, and American Society of Civil Engineers. Dr. Pyeon conducts research in the area of transportation construction engineering and management, and teaches undergraduate and graduate courses in construction project management, construction information technology, construction scheduling and estimating, and heavy transportation construction equipment.

Dr. Pyeon has published over 30 peer-reviewed journal articles, conference papers, and technical reports since joining SJSU. His research interests include seeking efficient ways to improve the highway construction planning and process, assessing uncertainty in construction, and developing decision support systems to assist project planners and managers. Specific research areas are transportation construction project delivery systems, work zone road user cost, transportation management plans, project risk management, and innovative contracting methods.

Dr. Pyeon has successfully performed several federal- and/or state-funded transportation construction research projects. He also serves as an external reviewer of FHWA's Work Zone Road User Cost research project and as an active reviewer of several major journals in the area of construction engineering and management.

### DO KIM, PH.D.

Do Kim, Ph.D. is an associate professor and the graduate coordinator in the Department of Urban and Regional Planning at California State Polytechnic University, Pomona (Cal Poly Pomona). Dr. Kim received his master's degree in Urban and Regional Planning from the University of Wisconsin, Madison and his Ph.D. degree in the same principle from the University of Florida. Dr. Kim has built a strong history of research in the areas of transportation planning, land use planning, and the application of Geographic Information Systems (GIS) to urban planning. In particular, his research interests are active transportation, sustainable transportation, and social justice in the fields of transportation.

### PEER REVIEW

San José State University, of the California State University system, and the MTI Board of Trustees have agreed upon a peer review process required for all research published by MTI. The purpose of the review process is to ensure that the results presented are based upon a professionally acceptable research protocol.

Research projects begin with the approval of a scope of work by the sponsoring entities, with in-process reviews by the MTI Research Director and the Research Associated Policy Oversight Committee (RAPOC). Review of the draft research product is conducted by the Research Committee of the Board of Trustees and may include invited critiques from other professionals in the subject field. The review is based on the professional propriety of the research methodology.

### **MTI FOUNDER**

#### Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

### **MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES**

Founder, Honorable Norman Mineta (Ex-Officio) Secretary (ret.), US Department of Transportation Vice Chair Hill & Knowlton, Inc.

Honorary Chair, Honorable Bill Shuster (Ex-Officio) Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of

Representatives

Honorary Co-Chair, Honorable Peter DeFazio (Ex-Officio) Vice Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee United States House of Representatives

**Chair, Nuria Fernandez** (**TE 2017**) General Manager and CEO Valley Transportation Authority

Vice Chair, Grace Crunican (TE 2019) General Manager Bay Area Rapid Transit District

**Executive Director, Karen Philbrick, Ph.D.** Mineta Transportation Institute San José State University

#### Directors

Karen Philbrick, Ph.D. Executive Director

Peter Haas, Ph.D. Education Director

Hilary Nixon, Ph.D. Research and Technology Transfer Director

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. National Transportation Finance Center

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Safety and Security Center

**Ben Tripousis** National High-Speed Rail Connectivity Center Anne Canby (TE 2017) Director OneRail Coalition

**Donna DeMartino (TE 2018)** General Manager and CEO San Joaquin Regional Transit District

William Dorey (TE 2017) Board of Directors Granite Construction, Inc.

Malcolm Dougherty (Ex-Officio) Director California Department of Transportation

Mortimer Downey\* (TE 2018) President Mort Downey Consulting, LLC

Rose Guilbault (TE 2017) Board Member Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board (Caltrain)

**Ed Hamberger (Ex-Officio)** President/CEO Association of American Railroads

Steve Heminger\* (TE 2018) Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission

**Diane Woodend Jones (TE 2019)** Principal and Chair of Board Lea+Elliot, Inc. **Will Kempton (TE 2019)** Executive Director Transportation California

Art Leahy (TE 2018) CEO Metrolink

Jean-Pierre Loubinoux (Ex-Officio) Director General International Union of Railways (UIC)

Abbas Mohaddes (TE 2018) CEO The Mohaddes Group

**Charles W. Moorman IV** (**Ex-Officio**) CEO Amtrak

Jeff Morales (TE 2019) CEO California High-Speed Rail Authority

Malu Roldan, Ph.D. (Ex-Officio) Interim Dean Lucas College and Graduate School of Business San José State University

Beverley Swaim-Staley (TE 2019) President Union Station Redevelopment Corporation Michael Townes\* (TE 2017) President Michael S. Townes, LLC

**Richard A. White (Ex-Officio)** Interim President and CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

**Bud Wright (Ex-Officio)** Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

Edward Wytkind (Ex-Officio) President Transportation Trades Dept., AFL-CIO

(TE) = Term Expiration or Ex-Officio \* = Past Chair, Board of Trustee

### **Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee**

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. Urban and Regional Planning San José State University

**Jan Botha, Ph.D.** Civil & Environmental Engineering San José State University

Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D. Enviromental Science San José State University

**Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D.** Marketing and Decision Science San José State University Frances Edwards, Ph.D. Political Science San José State University

**Taeho Park, Ph.D.** Organization and Management San José State University

**Diana Wu** Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University









Funded by U.S. Department of Transportation and California Department of Transportation